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Mission Statement
We are leaders and innovators in the
healthcare community.
STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES

Through its core products, the Mutual Protection Trust and the CAPAssurance
Risk Purchasing Group, the Cooperative of American Physicians, Inc.
provides the best possible medical professional liability protection and related
services, maintaining the highest ethical standards in a climate
of constant improvement.

Our members, associates, and affiliates receive services that are
satisfying, dependable, effective, economical, and valuable.

We continually develop knowledge and resources that meet the changing
legal, societal, and medical environment.

The organization’s commitment to financial integrity justifies the
continuing confidence of our members.

All business is conducted in accordance with federal,
state, and local regulations.

MPT membership decisions and the disposition of claims are reached
by boards and committees of member physicians.

Our decisions are reached with information that assists us in both reducing the
risks associated with operating a medical practice and enhancing patient care.

Our employees are committed to excellence and continuous
quality improvement.

Our leadership provides an atmosphere of collaboration, recognition,
and fair compensation.

Our dedication to the medical community, business partners, and the public
at-large is exemplified by our accountability, innovation, integrity, and a
commitment to quality of the highest order.
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A Message to Our Members
For 40 years, the Cooperative of American Physicians and the
Mutual Protection Trust have adhered to several important constants:
A physician-centered approach to addressing the practice needs
of California’s finest healthcare providers; sound financial practices in
the provision of medical professional liability coverage; the promotion
of continuing education to increase patient safety and reduce
claims; and assertive legal defense and claims management on behalf
of members who find themselves in litigation.

Sarah E. Pacini

Charles P. Steinmann

Béla S. Kenessey

Successful organizations know the importance

So while healthcare seems poised for yet

of maintaining core values while simultaneously

another round of significant change, it is also

responding to changing circumstances. In

true that this time, everyday Americans are

fact, it is imperative for vibrant organizations

participants in the riveting debate over how

such as CAP to adapt to the changes and

such care is best delivered. Physicians should

capitalize on the opportunities presented

welcome the public’s involvement in this

with each challenge for the benefit of

heated dialogue as one commonly voiced

its members.

theme – access to medical care – is a longstanding concern of CAP.
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It is in this environment that CAP remains

But another, perhaps better, argument is that

dedicated to providing solutions to physicians

our 40 years serving California’s finest physicians

and healthcare facilities that want to maintain

simply provides a solid platform from which

their ability to help patients make the best

we can view the future through fresh eyes.

choices available for themselves and their
families. For solo and small-group practitioners,

In either event, our goal is the same: Your

this means increasing their purchasing power

continued success in treating patients while

for supplies and vendor services, promoting

you remain confident in the protection and

patient-satisfaction evaluation tools, and offering

partnership that CAP and MPT can provide.

key insurance coverages for practice-related
risks through CAP’s own insurance agency. For
large entities and facilities, the CAPAssurance
Risk Purchasing Group can provide professional
liability solutions that respond to their unique
financial and operational challenges.

Béla S. Kenessey, MD
President and Chair
Cooperative of American Physicians, Inc.

This year, as in previous years, CAP and MPT
remain dedicated to ensuring the success of
our physician members. We could make the
argument that four decades of experience in
delivering superior medical professional liability

Charles P. Steinmann, MD
Chair
Mutual Protection Trust Board of Trustees

coverage provides the maturity needed to
meet the challenges that our members face.
Such a point is buttressed by MPT again earning
an A+ (Superior) financial rating from A.M.
Best, the eleventh consecutive year it has
achieved this honor, and by CAP’s subsidiary, the
Cooperative of American Physicians Insurance
Company, again earning an A- (Excellent) rating.

Sarah E. Pacini, JD
Chief Executive Officer
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Board of Directors
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Wayne Kleinman, MD
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Amir Moradi, MD
Graham A. Purcell, MD
Stewart L. Shanfield, MD
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Bruce J. Weimer, MD

Board of Trustees
MUTUAL PROTECTION TRUST

Charles P. Steinmann, MD, Chair
Mearl A. Naponic, MD
Othella T. Owens, MD
Andrew L. Sew Hoy, MD
Phillip Unger, MD
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COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. (CAP) AND SUBSIDIARIES AND
MUTUAL PROTECTION TRUST (MPT)

Report to the Membership
BY THE CAP AND MPT AUDIT COMMITTEE

The consolidated financial statements of CAP, the financial statements of MPT, and related financial information included in
this annual report have been prepared by CAP and MPT, whose management is responsible for its integrity. These financial
statements, which necessarily reflect estimates and judgments, have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.
The financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 have been audited by Ernst & Young
LLP, independent auditors, as set forth in their reports appearing on pages 7 and 28.
CAP and MPT maintain a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and
transactions are properly executed and recorded.
The Audit Committee, which consists solely of members who are not employees of the Company, meets periodically with
management and the independent auditors to review the scope of their activities and to discuss internal controls and financial
reporting matters. The independent auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee and meet with the Committee
both with and without the presence of Company management.
This report will be filed with the California Department of Business Oversight with a statement from the Board of Trustees
that this report was prepared from the official books and records of CAP and MPT.

Graham A. Purcell, MD
Chair
CAP and MPT Audit Committee
March 17, 2017
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Report of Independent Auditors

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Cooperative of American Physicians, Inc.
and subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related
consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income, changes in members’ equity and cash flows for the years then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Cooperative of American Physicians, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2016 and 2015,
and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

March 17, 2017
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

December 31
2016

2015

$ 5,796,000
2,170,000
250,000
33,050,000
4,784,000
166,000
275,000
5,764,000
4,064,000
1,617,000
710,000
204,000
2,207,000

$ 7,351,000
2,285,000
—
32,755,000
4,495,000
—
—
5,743,000
3,251,000
1,610,000
737,000
168,000
1,221,000

$61,057,000

$59,616,000

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Short-term investments
Fixed income securities, at fair value
Equity securities, at fair value
Deferred tax assets, net
Income taxes receivable
Premiums receivable
Funds held by reinsured
Receivable from affiliated entities
Receivable for claims and risk management services
Deferred acquisition costs
Other assets

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities:

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses
Payable to affiliated entities
Dues received in advance
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Unearned premiums
Income taxes payable
Unearned claims and risk management services
Premiums payable
Accounts payable and other liabilities
		

$15,151,000
645,000
1,069,000
—
1,588,000
—
823,000
7,852,000
6,059,000

$14,825,000
407,000
1,115,000
42,000
1,317,000
359,000
680,000
8,025,000
4,632,000

33,187,000

31,402,000

Contingencies and commitments (see Note 7)
			
Total Members’ Equity:

Members’ equity
Accumulated other comprehensive income
		

27,405,000
465,000

27,662,000
552,000

27,870,000

28,214,000

$61,057,000

$59,616,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income
COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Revenues

$ 3,216,000
43,375,000
8,016,000
1,726,000
1,020,000
15,000

$ 3,243,000
42,821,000
6,872,000
1,768,000
925,000
1,000

57,368,000

55,630,000

30,255,000
21,718,000
5,839,000

29,488,000
19,894,000
4,159,000

57,812,000

53,541,000

(Loss) Income Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Benefit (Expense)

(444,000)
187,000

2,089,000
(796,000)

Net (Loss) Income

(257,000)

1,293,000

(87,000)

(182,000)

$  (344,000)

$ 1,111,000

Member and participant dues
Claims and risk management service revenues
Premiums earned
Commissions earned
Investment income, net
Other revenues
		Total Revenues
Expenses
Salaries and related expenses
Other operating costs
Losses and loss adjustment expenses
		Total Expenses

Other Comprehensive Loss, Net

Net unrealized losses on securities available-for-sale, net of taxes
Comprehensive (Loss) Income

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity
COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

			

		
		

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income

Members’
Equity

Balance at January 1, 2015
Net Income
Other Comprehensive Loss
(net of deferred income taxes of $93,000)
Balance at December 31, 2015
Net Loss
Other Comprehensive Loss
(net of deferred income taxes of $44,000)
Balance at December 31, 2016

Total
Members’
Equity

$26,369,000
1,293,000

$ 734,000
—

$27,103,000
1,293,000

—

(182,000)

(182,000)

27,662,000
(257,000)

552,000
—

28,214,000
(257,000)

—

(87,000)

(87,000)

$27,405,000

$ 465,000

$27,870,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Operating Activities

$   (257,000)

$ 1,293,000

335,000
(65,000)
(163,000)

389,000
(7,000)
22,000

115,000
(634,000)
(21,000)
(813,000)
(7,000)
27,000
(36,000)
(986,000)
326,000
238,000
(46,000)
271,000
143,000
(173,000)
1,427,000

(465,000)
(260,000)
(1,679,000)
(1,736,000)
(98,000)
(259,000)
(23,000)
(245,000)
1,026,000
407,000
70,000
564,000
209,000
2,145,000
695,000

(319,000)

2,048,000

(6,805,000)
(506,000)
5,825,000
250,000

(9,701,000)
—
8,394,000
350,000

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities

(1,236,000)

(957,000)

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year

(1,555,000)
7,351,000

1,091,000
6,260,000

$ 5,796,000

$ 7,351,000

Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by
		operating activities:
			 Net amortization on fixed income securities
			 Net realized investment gains
			Deferred income taxes
			 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
				Restricted cash
				Income taxes
				Premiums receivable
				Funds held by reinsured
				Receivable from affiliated entities
				 Receivable for claims and risk management services
				Deferred acquisition costs
				Other assets
				 Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses
				Payable to affiliated entities
				Dues received in advance
				Unearned premiums
				 Unearned claims and risk management services
				Premiums payable
				 Accounts payable and other liabilities
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Operating Activities
Investing Activities

Purchases of fixed income and equity securities
Purchases of short-term investments
Proceeds from sale or maturity of fixed income and equity securities
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Note 1: Organization
The Cooperative of American Physicians, Inc. (CAP) was incorporated in 1975 for the purpose of providing various services
relating to the general and professional welfare of its membership, which is comprised exclusively of physicians and surgeons licensed to practice in California. On January 1, 2013, physician members of the Hawaii Association of Physicians for
Indemnification (HAPI), a group of physicians and surgeons licensed to practice in Hawaii, became non-voting participants
in CAP and received certain benefits from CAP pursuant to an agreement. Additional non-voting participants have been
added through the CAPAssurance Program, which is more fully described below.
CAP formed Mutual Protection Trust (MPT) in 1977 in accordance with California legislation enacted in 1976 permitting
the formation of such interindemnity arrangements to provide medical professional liability protection for physicians. MPT
is a separate legal entity governed by its Board of Trustees and is not included in the consolidation of CAP and its wholly
owned subsidiaries. Physicians covered by MPT are required to be members of CAP.
In April 2013, CAP formed CAPAssurance Risk Purchasing Group (CAPAssurance), a non-profit, unincorporated association
domiciled in California that was established to allow large physician groups, hospitals, and facilities access to a medical professional liability insurance product. As a risk purchasing group, CAPAssurance is not a subsidiary of CAP and is comprised
of physician groups and medical facilities that purchase their liability insurance through CAPAssurance. Insurance under the
program is provided by a national medical professional liability insurance company, with certain risk management, claims
administration, and other policy services provided by CAP under agreements that became effective in March 2013 for hospitals and July 2013 for large physician groups (collectively the CAPAssurance Program) (see Note 2). In 2014, CAP began
collecting premiums on new or renewal business produced through the CAPAssurance Program. Physicians and medical
facilities that are insured through the CAPAssurance Program can access various benefits of CAP as non-voting participants.
CAP, with the CAPAssurance Program, can now better serve larger medical groups with professional liability coverage either
through an insurance product or through the interindemnity arrangement provided by MPT.
In 2002, CAP formed the Cooperative of American Physicians Insurance Company, Inc. (CAPIC), a wholly owned subsidiary domiciled in the state of Hawaii under that state’s captive insurance statutes. The original purpose of CAPIC was to
offer supplemental reinsurance and insurance coverage to its affiliate, MPT, and supplemental insurance coverage to CAP
and MPT. Over the years, CAPIC changed its licensing status as part of an effort to broaden its product offerings. Most
recently, on May 23, 2013, CAPIC was re-licensed to a Class 4 sponsored captive insurance company. Under its new license,
CAPIC entered into a pro rata reinsurance agreement with the insurance company providing insurance coverage for the
CAPAssurance Program and thereby participates in the underwriting results of the CAPAssurance Program. This expanded
CAPIC’s product offerings to include assumed reinsurance of large physician groups, hospitals, and medical facilities who
purchase their medical professional liability insurance through the CAPAssurance Program. Under the reinsurance agreement, CAPIC participates on a pro rata basis at rates that vary based on the type of insured covered by the policies. The
policy acquisition costs and claims administration expenses of the insurance company on these policies are also reimbursed
by CAPIC on the same pro rata basis per the terms of the reinsurance agreement. CAPIC amortizes these expenses over the
related policy term. These expenses include certain claims administration and other policy services provided by CAP to the
insurance company under the CAPAssurance Program. CAPIC is consolidated in the operations of CAP.
In 2006, CAP formed the Cooperative of American Physicians Insurance Services, Inc. (CAPIS), a wholly owned subsidiary
domiciled in Delaware, and licensed as a broker-dealer by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. CAPIS provided
CAP and its affiliate, MPT, with an alternative distribution channel for both the products offered by CAP and the medical
professional liability protection services of MPT. Operations commenced in 2007 and were consolidated with the operations
of CAP. More recently, it was determined that this alternative distribution channel was no longer necessary, and CAPIS was
dissolved on February 20, 2015.
In 2007, CAP formed the CAP Physicians Insurance Agency, Inc. (CAP Agency), a wholly owned subsidiary of CAP domiciled in California, which provides access to business and other coverages for CAP members and participants. In addition,
under an agreement that became effective January 1, 2013, CAP Agency performs the billing and collection obligations
under CAP’s group disability and life program. The operations of CAP Agency are consolidated with the operations of CAP.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Note 1: Organization (continued)
Effective January 1, 2010, CAP and MPT entered into an administrative and management services agreement whereby CAP
provides membership, claim, risk management, financial, legal and other administrative and management services to MPT.
CAP receives monthly fees from MPT for these services. Effective January 1, 2013, MPT and CAPIC entered into a services
agreement whereby CAPIC provides claims legal defense services to MPT physicians. MPT pays CAPIC monthly fees for
these services that are based on actual costs incurred (see Note 9).
CAP sponsors the CAP State Political Action Committee and the CAP Federal Political Action Committee, which solicit
and accept donations from members of CAP and make contributions in support of candidates for public office. CAP also
maintains the CAP State Independent Expenditure Committee and the CAP Federal Independent Expenditure Committee,
which participate in independent expenditure candidate campaigns. These committees are subject to laws and regulations
of the state of California and the federal government.
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements of CAP and its wholly owned subsidiaries, CAPIC, CAPIS and CAP Agency (collectively, the Company), have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). This
basis of accounting requires the use of management estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates. Intercompany transactions and balances have
been eliminated in consolidation.
The expenses of CAP are incurred on behalf of its members and participants, MPT, and the political action committees.
For certain membership benefit expenses, CAP is reimbursed by MPT. Other revenues include royalties under certain
license agreements. Membership dues are $250 per member. For participants, the dues vary based on the benefits selected
by such participants.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of 90 days or less at
acquisition and are principally stated at amortized cost.
RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash represents funds held in premium trust accounts for CAP Agency and CAPAssurance premiums and
premium related receipts, and funds held in a loss fund pursuant to a claims servicing agreement. Disbursements are
made from these accounts to pay premiums to insurance companies, agent commissions to CAP Agency, dues and claims
and risk management service fees to CAP, excise surplus lines taxes to taxing authorities, and approved loss payments
under the claims servicing agreement.
SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments include investments with remaining maturities of one year or less at the time of acquisition and are
principally stated at amortized cost.
INVESTMENTS

Investments are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value. Transfers between fair value hierarchy levels 1, 2,
or 3 are recognized on the actual date of the circumstances that caused the transfer to occur. Unrealized gains and losses are
accounted for, net of tax, as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in members’ equity. Realized gains
and losses from sales transactions occurring during the year are recognized in operations using the specific identification
method. Unrealized gains and losses are determined using the specific identification method. Investment income is recorded
as earned. Premiums and discounts on investment securities are primarily amortized using the interest method over the
estimated lives of the investments. Adjustments for other-than-temporary market declines are recorded when determination
of loss is probable and are reported as a write-down of cost or amortized cost to fair value.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of temporary cash investments and fixed income securities. The Company places its temporary cash investments with high credit
quality financial institutions. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to fixed income securities are limited due to the
large number of such investments and their distribution across many different sectors. The Company’s investments in federal
agency securities are considered to have an implicit guarantee as to principal from the U.S. government and are considered to
have minimal credit risk.
CAPIC is a reinsurer under certain reinsurance agreements with an insurer where premiums assumed, less specified policy
acquisition costs and claims administration expenses, are held by the ceding insurance company to secure incurred but
unpaid obligations of CAPIC, such as incurred but unpaid claims and unearned premiums. Total amounts held by the insurance company as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are $4,064,000 and $3,251,000, respectively, and are reported as funds
held by reinsured. Management has evaluated the financial condition of the insurance company and has concluded that no
allowance for credit losses is considered necessary (see Note 5).
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Estimated fair value amounts, defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e.,
the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, have been determined using
available market information and other appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in
developing the estimates of fair value where quoted market prices are not available. Accordingly, these estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions or estimating methodologies may have an effect on the estimated fair value amounts.
The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair value disclosures for financial
instruments in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and in these notes:
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term investments, premiums receivable, funds held by reinsured, receivable from
affiliated entities, receivable for claims and risk management services, payable to affiliated entities, dues received in advance, premiums payable, accounts payable and other liabilities. The carrying amounts for these financial instruments as reported in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets approximate their estimated fair values.
Investments. The Company determines the fair value of its financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy established in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, which requires an entity to disclose the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs for measuring fair value. Estimates of fair value measurements for these securities
are estimated using relevant inputs, including available relevant market information, benchmark curves, benchmarking
of like securities, sector groupings and matrix pricing. Additionally, an Option Adjusted Spread model is used to develop
prepayment and interest rate scenarios. Industry standard models are used to analyze and value securities with embedded
options or prepayment sensitivities.

Each asset class is evaluated based on relevant market information, relevant credit information, perceived market movements and sector news. The market inputs utilized in the pricing evaluation include benchmark yields, reported trades,
broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, reference data, and industry
and economic events. The extent of the use of each market input depends on the asset class and the market conditions.
Depending on the security, the priority of the use of inputs may change or some market inputs may not be relevant.
For some securities, additional inputs may be necessary.
This method of valuation will only produce an estimate of fair value if there is objectively verifiable information to produce a
valuation. If objectively verifiable information is not available, the Company would be required to produce an estimate of fair
value using some of the same methodologies, but would have to make assumptions for market-based inputs that are unavailable due to market conditions.
Because the fair value estimates of most fixed income securities are determined by evaluations that are based on observable
market information rather than market quotes, most estimates of fair value for fixed income securities are based on estimates
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
using objectively verifiable information and are included in the amount disclosed in Level 2 of the hierarchy. The values of
states and municipalities, corporate bonds, residential mortgage-backed securities, commercial mortgage-backed securities
and asset-backed securities are based on the observable market information and as such, are included in Level 2 of the
hierarchy. Level 1 is limited to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments and includes all U.S.
Treasury obligations and equity securities.
The following table presents investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets that are stated at fair value and
the fair value measurements used as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 (see Note 3):
		

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Asset-backed securities

$17,737,000
491,000
2,309,000
6,310,000
1,151,000
5,052,000

$       —
491,000
—
—
—
—

$17,737,000
—
2,309,000
6,310,000
1,151,000
5,052,000

Total fixed income securities
Equity securities: mutual funds

33,050,000
4,784,000

491,000
4,784,000

32,559,000
—

$37,834,000

$5,275,000

$32,559,000

Asset-backed securities

$16,577,000
2,760,000
6,986,000
2,955,000
3,477,000

$       —
—
—
—
—

$16,577,000
2,760,000
6,986,000
2,955,000
3,477,000

Total fixed income securities
Equity securities: mutual funds

$32,755,000
4,495,000

$       —
4,495,000

$32,755,000
—

Total fixed income and equity securities

$37,250,000

$4,495,000

$32,755,000

DECEMBER 31, 2016
Fixed income securities

States and municipalities
U.S. Treasury obligations
Corporate bonds
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial mortgage-backed securities

Total fixed income and equity securities
DECEMBER 31, 2015
Fixed income securities

States and municipalities
Corporate bonds
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial mortgage-backed securities

There were no securities at December 31, 2016 or 2015, whose fair value measurements were based on Level 3:
Unobservable inputs.
There were no significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the years ended
December 31, 2016 or 2015.
REVENUES
Dues: Members’ dues are recognized on January 1 of each year and earned ratably over the year. For participants, dues are

recognized on a pro rata basis over the related agreement or insurance policy term.
Claims and risk management service revenues: These services are comprised primarily of services provided to MPT and to
an insurance company pursuant to the CAPAssurance Program (see Notes 1 and 9). Claims and risk management services to
MPT are recognized as earned, and are derived under agreements to provide certain administrative, claims legal defense, and
management services. For all services except claims legal defense, revenues are determined based on actual expenses incurred
plus a margin. The calculation of expense to MPT is based on the ratio of assessments, dues and revenues of MPT to total
assessments, dues and revenues of the Company and MPT combined. The Company excludes revenues from this administrative and management services agreement in calculating this ratio. The claims legal defense service revenues are determined
based on actual costs incurred and represent services provided by CAPIC to MPT physicians pursuant to an agreement effective January 1, 2013.
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The claims and risk management services under the CAPAssurance Program are derived from agreements with an insurance company that became effective in 2013. These services consist of claims administration, risk management and certain
insurance services in the areas of underwriting support, risk management, marketing, and other administrative services. The
insurance company retains underwriting authority on all policies issued. Service fees are based on percentages of premiums
on policies issued. If a policy is cancelled prior to its expiration date, the Company returns service fees to the insurance
company based on the unearned premium of the cancelled policy. These service obligations are part of other agreements that
together allow the Company to offer a medical professional liability insurance product to large physician medical groups,
hospitals and medical facilities. One of these other agreements is a pro rata reinsurance agreement between CAPIC and the
insurance company. This enables the Company to participate in the underwriting results on insurance policies issued by
the insurance company through the CAPAssurance Program. Accordingly, the Company will not only generate claims and
risk management service revenues on policies issued by the insurance company, but will also recognize premiums earned
through the reinsurance agreement and dues revenue for any physician and medical facility participants who purchase bene
fits from CAP.
CAP recognizes the marketing services revenues at the inception of the policy period since these services are complete
as of the inception of the policy. Underwriting support, risk management and other administration services under the
CAPAssurance Program (policy services) are recognized over the related policy term. Policy services are provided during the
policy term. Service fees are subject to return should the underlying policy be cancelled. For claims administration services,
an estimated payout period of reported claims is used to recognize service fee revenue. This period is generally longer than
the related policy term and is aligned with the Company’s obligation to provide claims administration services on reported
claims until final resolution of the claim. The allocation of service fees between claims administration and policy services is
based on the premium percentages for such services as provided for in the underlying agreements. The Company determined
these rates to be reasonable by comparing these percentages to the recent historical experience of the insurance company and
found such rates comparable. The insurance company is a leading provider of medical professional liability insurance nationwide and is considered representative of what competitive policy services cost should approximate.
Premiums: Premiums are recognized on a pro rata basis over the policy or reinsurance contract terms. Premiums under
extended reported endorsements are recognized on the effective date of the endorsement.
Commissions earned: Commissions on premiums billed and commission adjustments, including policy cancellations and

override commissions, are recorded when estimable or received. Supplemental commissions are received from insurance
companies as additional incentive for achieving specified premium volume goals and/or the loss experience of the insurance
placed by the Company. Supplemental commissions are recognized when the Company receives data from the insurance
companies that allows the amounts to be reasonably estimated. Commission expense represents amounts the Company pays
on business placed by insurance brokers and agents based on agreed-upon commission percentages between the Company
and the insurance brokers and agents. Commission expense is recognized on the effective date of the related MPT coverage
period. Commission income is reported gross of commission expense.
DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS

Costs that vary with and are directly related to the successful production of new and renewal insurance and reinsurance
premiums are deferred to the extent they are recoverable against unearned premiums and are amortized as related premiums
are earned. These acquisition costs consist mainly of commissions, premium taxes, claim administration costs and other
policy administration costs of the ceding company. The amortization of deferred acquisition costs related to claim administration costs is included in losses in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income. All other amortization is
included in other operating expenses (see Note 6).
RESERVES FOR LOSSES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses under contracts of insurance and reinsurance written on a claims-made
form is determined from reported losses and an amount, based on an actuarial evaluation which considers past experience,
for development on such losses. Such liabilities are necessarily based on estimates and, while management believes that the
amount is within a reasonable range of adequacy, the ultimate liability may be in excess of, or less than, the amount provided. Changes in estimates of the liabilities resulting from their periodic review and differences between estimates and
ultimate payments are reflected in current operations.
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
PREMIUMS RECEIVABLE AND PREMIUMS PAYABLE

CAP Agency and CAP record premiums receivable and payable under its agency billed and CAPAssurance business using
the accrual basis. Under this method, new and renewal premiums on policies produced by CAP Agency on agency billed
business or CAP on CAPAssurance Program business is recognized as a premium receivable from the physician, group or
medical facility and a premium payable to the insurance company. Cash received from agency or CAP billings reduce the
premiums receivable and cash payments to the insurance company reduce the premiums payable. For business where CAP
Agency is not obligated to perform billing services, accounts are settled on a cash basis.
RECEIVABLE FOR CLAIMS AND RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICES

The receivable for claims and risk management services represents uncollected claims, risk management and insurance
services fees on insurance policies issued under the CAPAssurance Program (see Note 1). A receivable is established at the
inception date of the issued policies and CAP collects these service fees based on the premium payment terms of the issued
policies.
UNEARNED CLAIMS AND RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Risk management and insurance services provided by CAP under the CAPAssurance Program are recognized over the underlying insurance policy periods. Claims administration services provided by CAP under this program are recognized over an
estimated payout period of reported claims. Unearned claims and risk management services represent the amount of these
service fees that relate to either the unexpired policy periods or the unexpired claim payout period as of the balance sheet
date (see Note 1).
CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

CAPIC is required by the state of Hawaii to maintain capital and surplus in an amount, and in certain investments, deemed
appropriate by the Insurance Commissioner of the State of Hawaii. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, CAPIC exceeded the
minimum requirement of $1,000,000. Hawaii law provides that no dividends may be paid to shareholders without prior approval
of the Insurance Commissioner. No dividends were declared or paid for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
INCOME TAXES

CAP and its wholly owned subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return. CAP allocates income taxes to these
subsidiaries based on the separate return method. Income taxes are provided for current taxes payable or refundable and the
temporary differences arising from future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial
statements or income tax returns. The effects of income taxes are measured based on enacted tax laws and rates. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Valuation allowances are recognized if,
based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Interest and penalties on tax amounts paid or received are included in investment income, net and other operating
costs, respectively.
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive income consists of net (loss) income and other comprehensive loss. Other comprehensive loss refers to
revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are not included in net income, less reclassification adjustments for gains or losses,
but rather are recorded in comprehensive income. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, other comprehensive
loss consists solely of net unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, on securities classified as available-for-sale. Reclassification
adjustments related to available-for-sale securities for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, were as follows:
2016

2015

Net realized investment gains (losses) included in the
calculation of investment income, net
Tax effect (at 34%)

$ 28,000
(10,000)

$(4,000)
1,000

Net realized investment gains (losses) reclassified
from other comprehensive income

$ 18,000

$(3,000)
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 in order to clarify the principles for recognizing revenue, improve comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, jurisdictions and capital markets and to provide more useful
information to users of financial statements through improved disclosure requirements. The core principle of the guidance is
that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This update will
be effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and may be adopted earlier, but not before reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company has not yet adopted this guidance. The adoption of this guidance
is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
In May 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-09, which requires all insurance entities that issue short-duration contracts to
expand disclosures about the liability for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses. This update increases transparency
of significant estimates made in measuring those liabilities, improves comparability by requiring consistent disclosure of
information, and provides financial statement users with additional information to facilitate analysis of the amount, timing,
and uncertainty of cash flows arising from contracts issued by insurance entities and the development of loss reserve estimates. This update is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and may be adopted earlier.
The Company plans to adopt the guidance for the year ended December 31, 2017. Adoption of the guidance is not expected
to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements as it affects disclosures only.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10), Recognition and Measurement
of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. In this update, the FASB issued guidance that requires equity investments (except
those accounted for under the equity method of accounting, or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. The new guidance also specifies that an entity use the
exit price notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes and present financial assets
and liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset. Other provisions of the new guidance include: revised
disclosure requirements related to the presentation in comprehensive income of changes in the fair value of liabilities; and
simplified impairment assessments for equity investments without readily determinable fair values. ASU 2016-01 is effective
for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Based on the equity investments currently held by the Company,
there would not be a material impact on the Company’s financial statements if the new guidance were able to be adopted
in the current accounting period. The impact on the Company’s financial statements at the date of adoption of the updated
guidance will be determined by the equity investments held by the Company and the economic conditions at that time.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. Rather than generally
recognizing credit losses when it is probable that the loss has been incurred, the revised guidance requires companies to
recognize an allowance for credit losses for the difference between the amortized cost basis of a financial instrument and
the amount of amortized cost that the company expects to collect over the instrument’s contractual life. ASU 2016-13 is
effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020, and must be adopted as a cumulative effect adjustment
to retained earnings; early adoption is permitted. The Company has not yet adopted this guidance. The adoption of this
guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as modified by ASU 2017-03, Transition and Open
Effective Date Information. Under ASU 2016-02, an entity will be required to recognize assets and liabilities for the rights and
obligations created by leases on the entity’s balance sheet for both finance and operating leases. For leases with a term of 12
months or less, an entity can elect to not recognize lease assets and lease liabilities and expense the lease over a straight-line
basis for the term of the lease. ASU 2016-02 will require new disclosures that depict the amount, timing, and uncertainty
of cash flows pertaining to an entity’s leases. ASU 2016-02 is effective for reporting periods beginning January 1, 2020
and must be adopted using a modified retrospective approach for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15,
2019. Early adoption is permitted. Under this guidance, the Company will record assets and liabilities relating primarily to
our long-term office leases, and the Company is currently evaluating the effect to its financial statements.
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year consolidated financial statements to conform to the current year
presentation.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has completed an evaluation of all subsequent events through March 17, 2017, which is the date the consolidated financial statements were available for issuance, and has concluded that no subsequent events occurred which would
require recognition or disclosure.
Note 3: Investments
Investment securities, exclusive of cash and cash equivalents, are comprised of the following:
		 Gross
Amortized
Unrealized
Cost/Cost
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

DECEMBER 31, 2016
Fixed income securities

States and municipalities
U.S. Treasury obligations
Corporate bonds
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Total fixed income securities
Equity securities: mutual funds
Total fixed income and equity securities

$17,579,000
495,000
2,270,000
6,337,000
1,147,000
5,059,000

$  294,000
—
39,000
52,000
5,000
9,000

$(136,000)
(4,000)
—
(79,000)
(1,000)
(16,000)

$17,737,000
491,000
2,309,000
6,310,000
1,151,000
5,052,000

32,887,000
4,242,000

399,000
726,000

(236,000)
(184,000)

33,050,000
4,784,000

$37,129,000

$1,125,000

$(420,000)

$37,834,000

$15,966,000
2,779,000
6,969,000
2,971,000
3,487,000

$  612,000
13,000
99,000
—
—

$   (1,000)
(32,000)
(82,000)
(16,000)
(10,000)

$16,577,000
2,760,000
6,986,000
2,955,000
3,477,000

32,172,000
4,242,000

724,000
553,000

(141,000)
(300,000)

32,755,000
4,495,000

$36,414,000

$1,277,000

$(441,000)

$37,250,000

DECEMBER 31, 2015
Fixed income securities

States and municipalities
Corporate bonds
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Total fixed income securities
Equity securities: mutual funds
Total fixed income and equity securities

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed income securities available-for-sale as of December 31, 2016, by contractual repayment date of principal, are shown on page 20. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers
may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.
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Note 3: Investments (continued)

Due in one year or less
Due after one year through five years
Due after five years through 10 years
Due after 10 years
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities

Amortized
Cost

Fair Value

$        —
8,047,000
7,311,000
4,985,000

$        —
8,160,000
7,343,000
5,033,000

20,343,000
12,544,000

20,536,000
12,514,000

$32,887,000

$33,050,000

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, proceeds from sales of investments were $1,758,000 and $3,146,000,
respectively.
The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value aggregated by investment category and length of time
those securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position:
Less Than 12 Months
					
					
				
Fair Value

12 Months or More

Gross		
Unrealized		
Loss
Fair Value

Total

Gross		
Unrealized		
Loss
Fair Value

Gross
Unrealized
Loss

DECEMBER 31, 2016
Fixed income securities

States and municipalities
U.S. Treasury obligations
Residential mortgage-backed
		securities
Commercial mortgage-backed
		securities
Asset-backed securities
Total fixed income securities
Equity securities: mutual funds
Total fixed income and equity securities

$ 5,731,000
491,000

$(136,000)
(4,000)

$       —
—

$      —
—

$ 5,731,000
491,000

$(136,000)
(4,000)

4,084,000

(79,000)

—

—

4,084,000

(79,000)

—
1,736,000

—
(16,000)

501,000
—

(1,000)
—

501,000
1,736,000

(1,000)
(16,000)

12,042,000
—

(235,000)
—

501,000
2,817,000

(1,000)
(184,000)

12,543,000
2,817,000

(236,000)
(184,000)

$12,042,000

$(235,000)

$3,318,000

$(185,000)

$15,360,000

$(420,000)

$  168,000
967,000

$  (1,000)
(32,000)

$       —
—

$      —
—

$   168,000
967,000

$  (1,000)
(32,000)

1,821,000

(15,000)

2,013,000

(67,000)

3,834,000

(82,000)

1,948,000
3,228,000

(10,000)
(9,000)

498,000
249,000

(6,000)
(1,000)

2,446,000
3,477,000

(16,000)
(10,000)

8,132,000
—

(67,000)
—

2,760,000
2,701,000

(74,000)
(300,000)

10,892,000
2,701,000

(141,000)
(300,000)

$8,132,000

$ (67,000)

$5,461,000

$(374,000)

$13,593,000

$(441,000)

DECEMBER 31, 2015
Fixed income securities

States and municipalities
Corporate bonds
Residential mortgage-backed
		
securities
Commercial mortgage-backed
		securities
Asset-backed securities
Total fixed income securities
Equity securities: mutual funds
Total fixed income and equity securities

The Company reviews, at least quarterly, its investment portfolio for securities that may have an other-than-temporary
impairment. In its impairment analysis, the Company takes into consideration numerous criteria, including the duration and
extent of any decline in estimated fair value, industry factors, downgrades by rating agencies, liquidity and fundamental
factors of the issuers, as well as its ability and intent to retain its investment in the issuer to allow for any anticipated
recovery in market value or maturity. If the decline is determined to be other than temporary, the investment’s amortized
cost is written down to estimated fair value with the unrealized loss recognized in earnings as a realized loss on investments.
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Note 3: Investments (continued)
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, none of the Company’s investments whose estimated fair values were less than amortized cost were considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired given the severity and duration of the impairment and the
credit quality of the issuers. Regarding equity securities, the Company has evaluated the near-term prospects of the securities
in relation to the severity and duration of the impairment and intends to hold these securities until a recovery of fair value
has occurred. The Company does not intend to sell its investments whose fair values are less than amortized cost and it is not
more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the investments before recovery of the amortized cost bases,
which may be maturity.
Investment income, net is summarized as follows:
Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Interest income
Gains on sales of investments
Losses on sales of investments
Investment management fees and expenses
Net amortization of premium on fixed income securities

$1,326,000
65,000
—
(36,000)
(335,000)

$1,344,000
9,000
(2,000)
(37,000)
(389,000)

Investment income, net

$1,020,000

$  925,000

Note 4: Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
The activity in the reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses is summarized as follows:
December 31
2016

2015

$14,825,000

$13,799,000

Incurred related to:
Current year
Prior years

8,090,000
(2,110,000)

5,951,000
(1,792,000)

Total incurred

5,980,000

4,159,000

Paid related to:
Current year
Prior years

(1,088,000)
(4,566,000)

(612,000)
(2,521,000)

Total paid

(5,654,000)

(3,133,000)

$15,151,000

$14,825,000

Reserves — beginning of year

Reserves — end of year

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses for prior years decreased by
$2,110,000, comprised mainly of favorable development on the 2011 through 2013 claims-made years totaling $3,145,000,
offset partially by $1,044,000 in adverse development on the 2014 and 2015 claims-made years. The favorable development
in calendar year 2016 on the 2011 through 2013 claims-made years was due mainly to lower than expected claim severity.
The adverse development in calendar year 2016 on the 2014 and 2015 claims-made years was due to higher than expected
severity and claim frequency. For the year ended December 31, 2015, the provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses
for prior years decreased by $1,792,000, comprised mainly of favorable development on the 2010 through 2011 claims-made
years totaling $1,629,000, and on the 2013 through 2014 claims-made years totaling $568,000. This was offset primarily
by adverse development of $426,000 on the 2012 claims-made year. The favorable development in calendar year 2015 was
due primarily to lower than expected claim severity and by lower than expected claim frequency. The adverse development in
calendar year 2015 on the 2012 claims-made year was due mainly to higher than expected claim severity.
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Note 5: Reinsurance
CAPIC is involved in the assumption of reinsurance to share risk with insureds. CAPIC also purchases reinsurance from a
non-affiliated insurer to reduce its net exposure to losses. The following table presents the effect of reinsurance on short-
duration insurance premiums written and earned:
Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Premiums written:
Direct
Assumed
Ceded

$2,951,000
5,853,000
(41,000)

$2,979,000
4,936,000
—

Total written

$8,763,000

$7,915,000

Premiums earned:
Direct
Assumed
Ceded

$2,436,000
5,601,000
(21,000)

$2,500,000
4,372,000
—

Total earned

$8,016,000

$6,872,000

CAPIC assumes reinsurance on a pro rata basis with an insurance company as part of the CAPAssurance Program (see Note
1). In 2015, CAPIC entered into a second pro rata reinsurance agreement with the same insurance company that cover specified policies on physician groups and facilities that do not purchase their medical professional liability insurance coverage
through CAPAssurance. Under these agreements, CAPIC participates on a pro rata basis in the first $1.0 million of exposure
on medical professional liability policies at rates that vary based on the type of insured covered by the policies. Pursuant to
the terms of these agreements, premiums assumed, less specified policy acquisition costs and claims administration expenses,
are held by the insurance company to secure incurred but unpaid obligations of CAPIC, such as incurred but unpaid claims
and unearned premiums. Should the assumed premiums, net of expenses, be insufficient to secure these unpaid obligations,
then additional funds will be paid to the insurance company to make up any shortfall. In December 2016, the Company
funded $50,000 in additional funds to the insurance company. No additional funds were required in 2015. The amounts
held by the insurance company are reported as funds held by reinsured.
Effective January 1, 2016, CAPIC entered into a reinsurance agreement with HAPI relating to physician medical professional liability coverage. Under the agreement, CAPIC assumes a 5% share of up to $4,700,000 in loss and defense costs
in excess of $300,000 on a per claim basis. CAPIC’s participation begins after the application of an aggregate deductible
calculated at 12% of developed reinsurance premium.
Effective July 1, 2016 CAPIC entered into a reinsurance contract with an insurer on a pro rata basis that covers certain
direct policies of medical professional liability coverage issued by CAPIC to healthcare facilities owned by physicians who
are also members of HAPI. The receivable from reinsurers on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses represents management’s estimate of amounts that will be recoverable under this agreement. Given the uncertainty of the ultimate amounts
of losses, management’s estimates of losses and loss adjustment expenses recoverable may vary materially from the eventual
outcome. Reinsurance contracts do not relieve CAPIC from its obligations to policyholders and CAPIC remains liable to its
policyholders whether or not the reinsurer honors its contractual obligations. For the year ended December 31, 2016, CAPIC
recognized $26,000 in reinsurance recoveries under this contract. As of December 31, 2016, the total amount due from the
reinsurer under this contract was $19,000 (including receivables relating to unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, less
reinsurance premiums payable). CAPIC has not established an allowance for credit losses related to reinsurance receivables
as of December 31, 2016 as all reinsurance balances were considered collectible. For the year ended December 31, 2016, no
reinsurance balances were written off for credit reasons. CAPIC is consolidated in the operations of CAP.
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Note 6: Amortization of Deferred Acquisition Costs
Acquisition costs under reinsurance and insurance contracts are deferred to the extent they are recoverable against unearned
premiums and are amortized as related premiums are earned. The amortization of deferred acquisition costs that is included
in other operating expenses totals $36,000 and $23,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively
(see Note 2).
Note 7: Contingencies and Commitments
CAP and certain members of CAP’s board of directors (who are sued in their individual capacities) are co-defendants in a
lawsuit filed in June 2016, together with certain members of MPT’s board of trustees. The lawsuit was filed by two former
members of CAP and two active members of CAP. The primary allegation by the four plaintiffs is wrongful termination of
the former members from CAP and as participating members in MPT. In the litigation, plaintiffs seek reimbursement of
their legal expenses. Some plaintiffs also seek unspecified compensatory and exemplary damages, reinstatement of the former
members to their status as active members of CAP, as participating members in MPT, and as trustees of MPT, and injunctive and declaratory relief. CAP believes the terminations of CAP memberships were valid and carried out in accordance
with its bylaws and it will continue to vigorously defend itself in the lawsuit. CAP has incurred defense costs in conjunction
with this litigation and expects additional legal costs will be incurred in 2017. Included in other operating costs for the
year ended December 31, 2016 is $1,980,000 in total estimated legal costs, net of expected insurance proceeds, associated
with the lawsuit. CAP’s policy with regard to legal costs associated with loss contingencies is to accrue an estimate of total
estimated legal costs to be incurred in connection with the lawsuit to resolution. Additionally, any related insurance recoveries are recorded when they are probable. As of December 31, 2016, estimated remaining legal costs of $1,218,000 and the
estimated receivable for insurance recoveries of $536,000 are included in other liabilities and other assets, respectively.
The Company is subject to other legal proceedings arising from the normal conduct of its business. In the opinion of
management, any ultimate liability that may arise from these proceedings will not have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position.
CAP and MPT occupy their home office and regional office facilities under operating leases which provide for adjustments
to the lease payments based upon contractual commitments and inflationary factors. Both companies are lessees under these
operating leases. Rent expense is apportioned between CAP and MPT based primarily on the number of employees. The
total rent expense under these leases was $3,148,000 and $3,102,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. In November 2015, CAP and MPT extended the lease covering their Orange, California facility for an additional ten and a half years to a new expiration date of April 30, 2026. The future minimum rental commitments under these
operating leases are as follows:
Years Ending
December 31

2017
2018
2019
2020
2021 and after

Amount

$ 2,127,000
2,198,000
2,164,000
2,190,000
8,184,000
$16,863,000
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Note 8: Income Taxes
The components of the income tax benefit (expense) are as follows:
Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Current
Deferred

$ 24,000
163,000

$(774,000)
(22,000)

Total

$187,000

$(796,000)

A reconciliation of income tax benefit (expense) computed at the federal statutory tax rate to total income tax benefit
(expense) is summarized as follows:
Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Federal income tax benefit (expense) at 34%
Adjustments in taxes resulting from:
State income tax benefit (expense) (net of federal effect)
Employee benefit plan
Tax effect of PAC Committee’s reimbursement for taxes
Tax-exempt investment income
Meals and entertainment exclusion
Other

$151,000

$(710,000)

44,000
(16,000)
(86,000)
127,000
(24,000)
(9,000)

(61,000)
(16,000)
(93,000)
115,000
(22,000)
(9,000)

Total income tax benefit (expense)

$187,000

$(796,000)

The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31
2016

Deferred tax assets:
Discounting of reserves for losses and loss
		adjustment expenses
Other-than-temporary impairments of
		other investments
Capital loss carryover
Employee benefit obligations
Legal costs for loss contingency
State taxes
Unearned premiums
Deferred commissions
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gain on investments
State tax on unremitted earnings of subsidiaries
Accretion of bond discount
Deferred acquisition costs
State taxes
Other items
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax asset (liability), net

2015

$  362,000

$ 437,000

17,000
18,000
193,000
314,000
—
93,000
9,000

17,000
18,000
205,000
—
17,000
92,000
10,000

1,006,000

796,000

(240,000)
(213,000)
(186,000)
(154,000)
(34,000)
(13,000)

(285,000)
(209,000)
(183,000)
(149,000)
—
(12,000)

(840,000)

(838,000)

$  166,000

$ (42,000)
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COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Note 8: Income Taxes (continued)
The Company has not established a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets as it has been determined that it is more
likely than not that the assets will be realized.
Income taxes paid for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were $611,000 and $1,129,000, respectively. Income
taxes refunded for the year ended December 31, 2015 were $95,000. There were no penalties on tax amounts paid in either
year ended December 31, 2016 or 2015.
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had no net operating loss carryforwards.
The Company’s income tax returns are subject to audit by the Internal Revenue Service and state tax authorities. Significant
disputes may arise with these tax authorities involving issues of the timing and amount of deductions and allocations of
income among various tax jurisdictions because of differing interpretations of tax laws and regulations. The Company periodically evaluates its exposures associated with tax filing positions.
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had no uncertain tax positions.
Tax years 2013 through 2015 and tax years 2012 through 2015 are subject to examination by the federal and California taxing authorities, respectively. In February 2017, the Internal Revenue Service opened an examination of the Company’s 2015
tax return.
Note 9: Related Party Transactions
CAP and MPT operate under an administrative and management services agreement whereby CAP provides membership,
claims, risk management, financial, legal and other administrative and management services to MPT. Under the agreement,
CAP receives monthly fees from MPT for these services that are based on actual expenses incurred by CAP plus a margin.
The margin applies to all services, except legal, whose services are provided to MPT at cost. Total revenues of $26,045,000
and $25,397,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, recognized from MPT for administrative
and management services under the agreement are included in claims and risk management service revenues in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Expenses related to these agreements are included in salaries and related expenses
totaling $17,431,000 and $16,640,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and in other operating costs totaling $8,214,000 and $8,081,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Effective January 1, 2013, CAPIC and MPT entered into a services agreement whereby CAPIC provides claims legal defense
services to MPT physicians. CAPIC receives from MPT monthly fees for these services that are based on actual costs incurred.
Claims services fees recognized under this agreement were $16,678,000 and $17,010,000 for the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively. Included in the receivable from affiliated entities is $1,664,000 and $1,784,000 due from MPT
for these services as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
In 2016 and 2015, CAPIC had reinsurance contracts with MPT. These contracts principally provide per claim excess of loss
reinsurance coverage on a claims-made form for claims reported in 2016 and 2015. These agreements can be terminated and
commuted at the end of any calendar quarter prospectively by mutual agreement of CAPIC and MPT. Premiums paid by
MPT under these agreements were $2,600,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. CAPIC also participates
in a reinsurance contract that provides MPT coverage on a claims-made basis for multiple claims arising out of one common
event. Premiums received by CAPIC under this contract were $202,000 and $228,000 for the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, total affiliate reinsurance premium income
under all reinsurance contracts with MPT was $2,803,000 and $2,805,000, respectively.
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Note 9: Related Party Transactions (continued)
CAP provides its members and participants defense coverage for medical board actions with a $25,000 limit and employer
practice defense coverage with a $50,000 limit. CAPIC provides insurance coverage to CAP for these benefits. MPT reimburses CAP for a significant portion of the cost of this coverage. CAP paid CAPIC $2,460,000 and $2,579,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, for this coverage, of which MPT reimbursed CAP $2,396,000 and
$2,500,000 for the same respective years.
The Company sponsors a 401(k) savings plan for its employees. Employees’ contributions are matched by the Company at a
level that is determined by the Board of Directors. The contribution expense for the 401(k) savings plan was $744,000 and
$730,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Eligible employees vest in the Company’s contribution over a four-year vesting schedule. The Company also sponsors a supplemental employee retirement program (SERP)
for certain employees. Participants vest, on average, over a 10-year period. All of the expense related to the SERP is incurred
by MPT. SERP liabilities for the Company’s participants have been assumed by MPT.
The Company maintains a non-qualified deferred compensation program (NDCP) for eligible employees and Board members. Under the plan, participants can defer compensation or Board fees based on an annual election. Amounts deferred
are credited with notional investment earnings on a tax deferred basis until such amounts are distributed to participants.
Amounts deferred are remitted to MPT who administers the NDCP on behalf of the Company.
Note 10: Employee Benefits
The Company maintains a post-retirement medical benefit plan for certain employees. Beginning at the age of 62, participants can use amounts held in a separate post-retirement account held on their behalf (by a third-party trust) to fund eligible
medical expenses. Amounts paid to the trust by the Company are not refundable and become the property of the trustee on
behalf of participants. The trust invests funds received from the Company in universal life insurance policies covering
participants, which includes a death benefit funded by the Company until the participant reaches the vesting age of 62.
While the plan establishes targeted post-retirement benefit levels for participants, there is no obligation for the Company to
fully fund these levels and the employees are only eligible to receive the benefits accumulated in their account. Amounts
contributed to the trust by the Company were $65,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
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Report of Independent Auditors

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
MUTUAL PROTECTION TRUST

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Mutual Protection Trust, which comprise the balance sheets
as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related statements of operations and net decrease in members’ equity, changes
in members’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Mutual Protection Trust at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years
then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Supplementary Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The accompanying
supplementary financial information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information, except for that portion marked
“unaudited,” has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. In our opinion, the information,
except for that portion marked “unaudited” on which we express no opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation
to the financial statements as a whole.

March 17, 2017
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Balance Sheets
MUTUAL PROTECTION TRUST

December 31
2016

2015

$139,663,000
—
1,843,000
805,000
23,000

$138,334,000
1,528,000
1,806,000
855,000
(386,000)

142,334,000

142,137,000

62,542,000
8,812,000
94,778,000
2,118,000
12,697,000
60,000
21,122,000

66,452,000
11,151,000
89,464,000
2,310,000
14,084,000
78,000
18,779,000

			

202,129,000

202,318,000

			

$344,463,000

$344,455,000

$ 35,042,000
18,355,000
106,383,000
1,556,000
29,202,000

$ 33,652,000
12,861,000
111,724,000
1,530,000
25,174,000

190,538,000

184,941,000

Trust Fund Corpus, including accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
		 income of ($43,000) and $717,000 for 2016 and 2015, respectively
Trust Fund Operations

142,334,000
11,591,000

142,137,000
17,377,000

			

153,925,000

159,514,000

			

$344,463,000

$344,455,000

ASSETS
Trust Fund Corpus, restricted:

Fixed income securities, available-for-sale, at fair value
Short-term investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Accrued interest receivable
Deferred tax asset (liability)
			
Trust Fund Operating Accounts:

Fixed income securities, available-for-sale, at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents
Assessments, dues and other coverages receivable
Fixed assets, net
Deferred tax asset, net
Income taxes receivable
Other assets

LIABILITIES
Trust Fund Operating Accounts:

Non-assessable former members’ liability
Unpaid claims and expenses
Deferred assessments, dues and other coverages
Payable to affiliated entity
Other liabilities
			
Contingencies and commitments (see Notes 5 and 9)
MEMBERS’ EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Operations and Net Decrease
in Members’ Equity
MUTUAL PROTECTION TRUST

Years Ended December 31
2015

2016

Assessments and Dues
$121,494,000
$107,592,000
Revenues 			

Investment income:			
		 Interest income, net
5,005,000
5,539,000
		Realized gains
50,000
136,000
			Investment income, net
Other coverage fees
			Total Assessments, Dues and Revenues

5,055,000
14,534,000

5,675,000
14,560,000

141,083,000

127,827,000

Expenses

Claims costs:			
		 Indemnity expense
61,346,000
46,246,000
		 Defense and investigative services
36,276,000
36,684,000
		 Salaries and related expenses
6,777,000
6,014,000
		 Other operating costs
11,807,000
11,532,000
116,206,000

100,476,000

General and administrative:
		 Salaries and related expenses
		 Other operating costs

12,530,000
16,436,000

13,298,000
15,297,000

				

28,966,000

28,595,000

145,172,000

129,071,000

(4,089,000)
(1,505,000)

(1,244,000)
(2,522,000)

(5,594,000)

(3,766,000)

(952,000)

(2,064,000)

$  (6,546,000)

$  (5,830,000)

				

			Total Expenses
Deficit of Assessments, Dues and Revenues Over Expenses
Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense
Net Deficit of Assessments, Dues and Revenues Over Expenses
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net

Net unrealized losses on securities available-for-sale, net of taxes
Net Decrease in Members’ Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity
MUTUAL PROTECTION TRUST

Trust Fund Corpus
					
					
			
Trust Fund
Active
			
Operations
Members

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance at
January 1, 2015

$ 2,246,000 $(11,802,000) $14,555,000 $143,889,000 $165,567,000

Corpus Activity:
Additions
Payments on deferred
		 contracts receivable
Repayments
Contributions
		 relinquished
Transfers of Corpus

$21,678,000 $138,890,000

Members’
Deferred
Contract
Receivable

Retired
Members and
Voluntary
Terminations

Total
Trust Fund
Corpus

Total
Members’
Equity

—

6,023,000

—

(6,023,000)

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

6,503,000
—

—
(5,694,000)

6,503,000
(5,694,000)

6,503,000
(5,694,000)

—
—

(1,032,000)
(4,751,000)

—
—

—
—

—
4,751,000

(1,032,000)
—

(1,032,000)
—

Net Deficit of Assessments,
Dues and Revenues
over Expenses
(3,766,000)

—

—

—

—

—

(3,766,000)

Other Comprehensive Loss
(net of deferred
income taxes
of $1,112,000)

(535,000)

—

(1,529,000)

—

—

(1,529,000)

(2,064,000)

17,377,000

139,130,000

717,000

(11,322,000)

13,612,000

142,137,000

159,514,000

—

7,928,000

—

(7,928,000)

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

6,257,000
—

—
(4,409,000)

6,257,000
(4,409,000)

6,257,000
(4,409,000)

—
—

(891,000)
(5,883,000)

—
—

—
—

—
5,883,000

(891,000)
—

(891,000)
—

—

—

—

—

—

(5,594,000)

—

(760,000)

—

—

(760,000)

(952,000)

Balance at
December 31, 2015
Corpus Activity:
Additions
Payments on deferred
		contracts receivable
Repayments
Contributions
		relinquished
Transfers of Corpus

Net Deficit of Assessments,
Dues and Revenues
over Expenses
(5,594,000)
Other Comprehensive Loss
(net of deferred income
taxes of $512,000)
(192,000)
Balance at
December 31, 2016

$11,591,000 $140,284,000

$   (43,000) $(12,993,000) $15,086,000 $142,334,000 $153,925,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows
MUTUAL PROTECTION TRUST

Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Operating Activities

$ (5,594,000)

$ (3,766,000)

1,006,000
1,101,000
(50,000)
1,490,000
35,000

897,000
976,000
(136,000)
2,525,000
(123,000)

50,000
(5,314,000)
18,000
(2,343,000)
1,390,000
5,494,000
(5,341,000)
26,000
3,558,000

100,000
1,902,000
(332,000)
1,489,000
387,000
(591,000)
1,714,000
(1,000)
(4,249,000)

(4,474,000)

792,000

Fixed income securities available-for-sale:
		Purchases
		 Sales and maturities
Net decrease (increase) in short-term investments
Purchases of fixed assets

(41,105,000)
41,171,000
1,528,000
(379,000)

(38,384,000)
38,064,000
(1,528,000)
(439,000)

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

1,215,000

(2,287,000)

—
6,257,000
(5,300,000)

120,000
6,503,000
(6,726,000)

957,000

(103,000)

(2,302,000)

(1,598,000)

1,806,000
11,151,000

1,124,000
13,431,000

12,957,000

14,555,000

1,843,000
8,812,000

1,806,000
11,151,000

$ 10,655,000

$ 12,957,000

Net deficit of assessments, dues and revenues over expenses
Adjustments to reconcile net deficit of assessments, dues and
		 revenues over expenses to net cash provided by operating activities:
			Depreciation
			 Amortization on fixed income securities
			 Net realized investment gains
			Deferred income taxes
			 Increase (Decrease) in lease incentive obligation
			 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
				Accrued interest receivable
				 Assessments, dues and other coverages receivable
				Income taxes receivable
				Other assets
				 Non-assessable former members’ liability
				 Unpaid claims and expenses
				 Deferred assessments, dues and other coverages
				Payable to affiliated entity
				Other liabilities
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Operating Activities
Investing Activities

Financing Activities

Funds held by reinsurers
Additions to Trust Fund Corpus
Repayments of Trust Fund Corpus
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year

Trust Fund Corpus
Trust Fund Operations
					
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year

Trust Fund Corpus
Trust Fund Operations
					

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MUTUAL PROTECTION TRUST

Note 1: Organization
The Mutual Protection Trust (MPT) was organized in 1977 for the purpose of providing its member physicians with medical professional liability protection and related claims administration, including defense and investigative services. Only
physicians licensed to practice medicine in the state of California are eligible for membership. MPT is an interindemnity
arrangement structured so that its members share the cost of medical professional liability protection. California legislation
enacted in 1976 permitted the formation of a trust fund, with specific provisions including the requirement to accumulate a
minimum Trust Fund Corpus of $10 million. The Cooperative of American Physicians, Inc. (CAP) sponsored the organization of MPT and the initial accumulated contributions from the members were transferred to the Trust Fund Corpus. MPT
is governed by a Board of Trustees.
Each member is required to pay an Initial Trust Contribution based upon the member’s risk classification and other factors. These contributions are accumulated into the Trust Fund Corpus. MPT members are allowed to pay Initial Trust
Contributions in installments. The amount of Trust Fund Contributions unpaid is reported as a deferred contract receivable
from members and is reported as a reduction in members’ equity.
In accordance with the Mutual Protection Trust Agreement (the MPT Agreement), the Trust Fund Corpus may be utilized
by the Board of Trustees only for (1) investment in qualified securities, (2) return of contributions to qualified members in
connection with death, retirement or termination, (3) payment of claims in an amount not exceeding 10% of the Trust Fund
Corpus, with such amounts being promptly repaid to the Trust Fund Corpus by levying assessments against MPT members,
(4) collateral for bonds or deposits in court necessary for the appeal of judgments in an amount not exceeding 15% of
the Trust Fund Corpus, (5) distribution to MPT members in the event of the dissolution of MPT, and (6) other lawful
purposes approved in accordance with the MPT Agreement. The use of the Trust Fund Corpus for any other purpose is
strictly prohibited.
Initial Trust Contributions are repaid to the member on the 10th anniversary of the membership effective date to members
who have retired or who have voluntarily terminated membership in accordance with California Insurance Code Section
1280.7 and the MPT Agreement. Members must be in compliance with all terms and conditions of the MPT Agreement,
including the payment of all amounts due to MPT, to be entitled to the repayment of initial trust contributions. All repayments of initial trust contributions require the written authorization of at least two-thirds of the Board of Trustees. Members
who have voluntarily terminated membership through December 31, 2016 will receive the return of their Initial Trust
Contributions aggregating $15,086,000, in accordance with the provisions of the MPT Agreement through the year 2026.
The Initial Trust Contributions of members who have been involuntarily terminated pursuant to the provisions of the MPT
Agreement that provide for no return of the Initial Trust Contribution, are recognized in operations in the year of termination since these members have relinquished the right to the return of their Initial Trust Contributions.
Assessments and dues are determined by the Board of Trustees in accordance with California Insurance Code Section 1280.7
and the MPT Agreement and are used to fund estimated operating needs through the succeeding fiscal year. The Board of
Trustees has the ability to levy additional assessments, should there be an operating shortfall in a given year (see Note 5).
Assessments and dues become an obligation of active members on the date of levy by the Board of Trustees. Results from
operations may vary from year to year since actual amounts may differ from the estimates used to levy assessments and dues.
Revenues are primarily comprised of other coverage fees and net investment income. Assessments, dues and revenues are used
to pay legally binding final judgments and settlements against MPT members, claims defense and investigative expenses,
administrative expenses and are used to fund MPT’s actuarially estimated future liability for claims against non-assessable
former members in accordance with the MPT Agreement and resolution of the Board of Trustees (see Note 4).
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
This basis of accounting necessarily requires the use of management estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of assessments, revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
ASSESSMENTS AND DUES

Member assessments are levied by the Board of Trustees annually and recognized over the period in which membership
services are rendered. Member assessments levied in advance of the fiscal year to which they apply are deferred and recognized in operations in the subsequent year. In November 2016 and 2015, MPT levied $114,925,000 and $108,424,000 in
member assessments, respectively. The following table reconciles the assessments levied in November 2015 and 2014 to the
assessments recognized in the Statements of Operations:
Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Assessment levied in November of the preceding year
$108,424,000
November 2015 assessments transferred to 2016
500,000
November 2016 assessments retained in 2016
11,550,000
Net adjustments to member assessments during the year
19,000
Dues recognized
1,001,000

$103,539,000
(500,000)
—
(321,000)
4,874,000

Assessments and dues recognized in the Statements
of Operations

$107,592,000

$121,494,000

In addition to the assessments levied in November 2016 and 2015, the Board of Trustees also established annual dues of
$190 per active member. In the November 2016 and 2015 assessment, approximately $536,000 and $1,224,000, respectively, of the annual dues were contributed, based on an election made by the member, to the CAP State Political Action
Committee, or to another political action committee established to support medical liability reform. The Board of Trustees
directed that the residual dues remain in MPT and be used to offset operating costs in 2017 and 2016, respectively. Total
residual dues of $1,700,000 and $1,000,000 are included in deferred assessments, dues, and other coverages as of December
31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Amounts contributed to the political action committees are not recognized in assessments
and dues, and any contributions to these funds are not recognized as expenses. These funds are included in other liabilities as
a payable to CAP’s political action committees and totaled $536,000 and $1,224,000 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. Included in 2015 dues recognized in the table above are special dues of $4,874,000, which were intended to
replace $5,000,000 in operating cash, used in 2014 to support activities that preserve medical professional liability tort
limits in California.
REVENUES

Other coverage fees are recognized when billed and earned as revenue over the period in which services are rendered.
The billing for other coverage fees typically occurs in the first quarter of the calendar year.
NET DECREASE IN MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Net decrease in members’ equity consists of net deficit of assessments, dues and revenues over expenses and other comprehensive income. MPT does not report total comprehensive income since its statutory authority precludes the Board of Trustees
from assessing MPT’s members for anything other than operating needs. Assessments and dues are not revenues as they are
levied by the Board of Trustees solely to support such operating needs. Accordingly, there is no net income or loss, or total
comprehensive income or loss. Any excess of assessments, dues and revenues over expenses are the property of MPT members
(see Note 1). Other comprehensive income or loss refers to losses and gains that are not included in net deficit of assessments,
dues and revenues over expenses, but rather are recorded directly in members’ equity. For the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015, the net decrease in members’ equity consists of net deficit of assessments, dues and revenues over expenses
and unrealized losses on securities classified as available-for-sale.
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Reclassification adjustments related to available-for-sale securities for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
were as follows:
2016

2015

Net realized investment gains included in the calculation
of investment income, net
Tax effect (at 35%)

$ 58,000
(20,000)

$17,000
(6,000)

Net realized investment gains reclassified from other
comprehensive income

$ 38,000

$11,000

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of 90 days or less at
acquisition and are principally stated at amortized cost.
SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments include investments with remaining maturities of one year or less at the time of acquisition and are
principally stated at amortized cost.
INVESTMENTS

Investments are limited to those qualifying under California law as defined in Section 16430 of the Government Code.
Investments are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value. Transfers between fair value hierarchy levels 1, 2,
or 3 are recognized on the actual date of the circumstances that caused the transfer to occur. Unrealized gains and losses are
accounted for, net of tax, as a component of other comprehensive income in members’ equity.
Investments in the Trust Fund Corpus and Trust Fund Operating accounts are designated as available-for-sale and are carried
at fair value.
Investment income is recorded as earned. Premiums and discounts on investment securities are primarily amortized using
the interest method over the estimated lives of the investments. Realized gains and losses from sales transactions occurring
during the year, are recognized in operations using the specific identification method. Unrealized gains and losses are determined using the specific identification method. Adjustments for other-than-temporary market declines are recorded when
determination of loss is probable and are reported as a write-down of amortized cost to fair value.
FIXED ASSETS

Fixed assets consist of the following:
December 31
2016

Software
Computer equipment
Document imaging
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Accumulated amortization and depreciation
Fixed assets, net

2015

$    656,000
3,787,000
591,000
3,840,000
4,054,000

$   620,000
3,521,000
591,000
3,396,000
3,986,000

12,928,000
(10,810,000)

12,114,000
(9,804,000)

$   2,118,000

$ 2,310,000
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Included in this category is capitalized software costs, which represent costs directly related to obtaining, developing or
upgrading internal-use software. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which are generally as follows:
Asset Description

Software
Computer equipment
Document imaging
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment

Asset Life

5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
8 years

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments which potentially subject MPT to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of temporary cash
investments and fixed income securities; assessments, dues and other coverages receivable; and other assets. MPT places its
temporary cash investments with high credit quality financial institutions. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to fixed
income securities are limited due to the large number of such investments and their distribution across many different industries and geographic regions. MPT’s investments in federal agency securities are considered to have an implicit guarantee as
to principal from the U.S. government and are considered to have minimal credit risk. Credit risk concentration in assessments, dues and other coverages receivable is considered minimal due to the large number of physicians totaling approximately 11,800 that comprise the total receivable.
Within other assets, financial instruments that potentially subject MPT to concentrations of credit risk are assets that
support MPT’s employee benefit plan obligations. Substantially all of these employee benefit plan assets are comprised of
mutual funds and cash values in company-owned life insurance policies. Such cash values are also invested in mutual funds.
Concentrations of credit risk are mitigated through both the large number of mutual funds used, and the diversification
within each mutual fund among many different equity and fixed income positions across many companies and security issuers (see Note 7).
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Estimated fair value amounts, defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e.,
the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, have been determined using
available market information and other appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in
developing the estimates of fair value where quoted market prices are not available. Accordingly, these estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions or estimating methodologies may have an effect on the estimated fair value amounts.
The following methods and assumptions were used by MPT in estimating the fair value disclosures for financial instruments
in the accompanying financial statements and in these notes:
Cash and cash equivalents, assessments, dues and other coverages receivable. The carrying amounts for these financial
instruments as reported in the accompanying balance sheets approximate their estimated fair values.
Investments. MPT determines the fair value of its investments based on the fair value hierarchy established in Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 820, which requires an entity to disclose the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs for measuring fair value. Estimates of fair value measurements for these securities are estimated using
relevant inputs, including available relevant market information, benchmark curves, benchmarking of like securities, sector
groupings and matrix pricing. Additionally, an Option Adjusted Spread model is used to develop prepayment and interest rate scenarios. Industry standard models are used to analyze and value securities with embedded options or prepayment
sensitivities.

Each asset class is evaluated based on relevant market information, relevant credit information, perceived market movements
and sector news. The market inputs utilized in the pricing evaluation include: benchmark yields, reported trades,
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, reference data, and industry
and economic events. The extent of the use of each market input depends on the asset class and the market conditions.
This method of valuation will only produce an estimate of fair value if there is objectively verifiable information to produce
a valuation. If objectively verifiable information is not available, MPT would be required to produce an estimate of fair value
using some of the same methodologies, but would have to make assumptions for market-based inputs that are unavailable
due to market conditions. Depending on the security, the priority of the use of inputs may change or some market inputs
may not be relevant. For some securities, additional inputs may be necessary.
Because the fair value estimates of most fixed income securities are determined by evaluations that are based on observable
market information rather than market quotes, most estimates of fair value for fixed income securities are based on estimates
using objectively verifiable information and are included in the amount disclosed in Level 2 of the hierarchy. The values of
states and municipalities, corporate bonds and residential mortgage-backed securities are based on the observable market
information and as such, are included in Level 2 of the hierarchy. Level 1 is limited to unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical instruments and includes all U.S. Treasury obligations.
The following table presents investments in the accompanying balance sheets that are stated at fair value and the fair value
measurements used as of December 31, 2016 (see Note 3):
		

Total

Level 1

Level 2

$  2,445,000
24,807,000
39,721,000

$2,445,000
—
—

$         —
24,807,000
39,721,000

DECEMBER 31, 2016
Trust Fund Corpus, restricted:
Fixed income securities

		 U.S. Treasury obligations
		 States and municipalities
		Corporate bonds

		 Residential mortgage-backed securities
Total fixed income securities

72,690,000

—

72,690,000

$139,663,000

$2,445,000

$137,218,000

$ 19,775,000

$       —

$ 19,775,000

42,767,000

—

42,767,000

$ 62,542,000

$       —

$ 62,542,000

TRUST FUND OPERATING:
Fixed income securities

		Corporate bonds

		 Residential mortgage-backed securities
Total fixed income securities

All investments on the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2015 are stated at fair value and are considered
Level 2 investments.
There were no transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015. There were no securities at December 31, 2016 or 2015 whose fair value measurements were based on Level
3: Unobservable inputs.
Other Assets. Included in other assets are mutual fund investments used to fund SERP and NDCP obligations (see Note 7).
The carrying amounts for these Level 1 mutual fund investments in the accompanying balance sheet are stated at fair value,
totaling $4,091,000 and $3,821,000 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
There were no transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015.
UNPAID CLAIMS AND EXPENSES AND NON-ASSESSABLE FORMER MEMBERS’ LIABILITY

MPT reports its liability consistent with California Insurance Code Section 1280.7 and the MPT Agreement. Such liability
at each year-end, as detailed in Note 4, represents the unpaid amount of the following items:
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1. Accrued liability for claims defense and investigative expenses for all open claims under MPT management;
2. Total liability for legally binding final settlements and judgments against members who are current in the payment of all
amounts due under the MPT Agreement and former members who have met the requirements for retirement, termination with tail coverage, transfer of membership or who are deceased; and
3. Actuarially estimated future liability for claims reported and claims incurred but not reported against former MPT
members who are no longer assessable because of retirement, transfer of membership, voluntary or involuntary termination with tail coverage or death (collectively referred to as non-assessable former members’ liability). Also included in this
liability is an estimate for claims administration and other adjusting expenses that will be incurred in administering the
claims for such non-assessable former members.
INCOME TAXES

MPT files its federal income tax return as a mutual insurance company and files its California income tax return under the
provision of the California Bank and Corporation Tax Law as a business trust. Income taxes are provided on the basis of
items included in the determination of income for financial reporting purposes regardless of the period when such items
are reported for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded to reflect the tax consequences in future years
of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and the corresponding bases used for the financial
statements. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that represents management’s best
estimate of the amount that more likely than not will be realized. The income tax effect on unrealized investment gains and
losses on the Trust Fund Corpus investments is accounted for as deferred income taxes and is included as a separate component of the Trust Fund Corpus. Interest and penalties on tax amounts paid or received are included in investment income,
net and general and administrative other operating costs, respectively (see Note 8).
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 in order to clarify the principles for recognizing revenue, improve comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, jurisdictions and capital markets and to provide more useful
information to users of financial statements through improved disclosure requirements. The core principle of the guidance is
that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This update will
be effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and may be adopted earlier, but not before reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2017. MPT has not yet adopted this guidance. The adoption of this guidance is not
expected to have a material impact on MPT’s financial statements.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10), Recognition and Measurement
of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. In this update, the FASB issued guidance that requires equity investments (except
those accounted for under the equity method of accounting, or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. The new guidance also specifies that an entity use the
exit price notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes and present financial assets
and liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset. Other provisions of the new guidance include: revised
disclosure requirements related to the presentation in comprehensive income of changes in the fair value of liabilities; and
simplified impairment assessments for equity investments without readily determinable fair values. ASU 2016-01 is effective
for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Adoption of the new guidance is not expected to have a material
effect on MPT’s results of operations or financial position.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as modified by ASU 2017-03, Transition and Open
Effective Date Information. Under ASU 2016-02, an entity will be required to recognize assets and liabilities for the rights and
obligations created by leases on the entity’s balance sheet for both finance and operating leases. For leases with a term of 12
months or less, an entity can elect to not recognize lease assets and lease liabilities and expense the lease over a straight-line
basis for the term of the lease. ASU 2016-02 will require new disclosures that depict the amount, timing, and uncertainty
of cash flows pertaining to an entity’s leases. ASU 2016-02 is effective for reporting periods beginning January 1, 2020
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
and must be adopted using a modified retrospective approach for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15,
2019. Early adoption is permitted. Under this guidance, MPT will record assets and liabilities relating primarily to our
long-term office leases, and MPT is currently evaluating the effect to its financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. Rather than generally
recognizing credit losses when it is probable that the loss has been incurred, the revised guidance requires companies to
recognize an allowance for credit losses for the difference between the amortized cost basis of a financial instrument and the
amount of amortized cost that the company expects to collect over the instrument’s contractual life. ASU 2016-13 is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020, and must be adopted as a cumulative effect adjustment to
retained earnings; early adoption is permitted. MPT has not yet adopted this guidance. The adoption of this guidance is
not expected to have a material impact on MPT’s financial statements.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

MPT has completed an evaluation of all subsequent events through March 17, 2017, which is the date the financial statements were available for issuance, and has concluded that no subsequent event occurred which would require recognition
or disclosure.
Note 3: Investments
Fixed income securities, exclusive of cash and cash equivalents, are comprised of the following:
		 Gross
Amortized
Unrealized
Cost
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

DECEMBER 31, 2016
Trust Fund Corpus, restricted:
Fixed income securities, available-for-sale

		 U.S. Treasury obligations
		 States and municipalities
		Corporate bonds
		 Residential mortgage-backed securities
Total fixed income securities

$  2,463,000
24,426,000
39,458,000
73,381,000

$       —
591,000
399,000
587,000

$   (18,000)
(210,000)
(136,000)
(1,278,000)

$  2,445,000
24,807,000
39,721,000
72,690,000

$139,728,000

$1,577,000

$(1,642,000)

$139,663,000

$ 19,665,000
43,271,000

$  176,000
238,000

$   (66,000)
(742,000)

$ 19,775,000
42,767,000

$ 62,936,000

$  414,000

$  (808,000)

$ 62,542,000

$ 22,611,000
36,117,000
78,502,000

$1,070,000
407,000
961,000

$        —
(338,000)
(996,000)

$ 23,681,000
36,186,000
78,467,000

$137,230,000

$2,438,000

$(1,334,000)

$138,334,000

$ 20,258,000
46,293,000

$  223,000
401,000

$  (137,000)
(586,000)

$ 20,344,000
46,108,000

$ 66,551,000

$  624,000

$  (723,000)

$ 66,452,000

Trust Fund Operating:
Fixed income securities, available-for-sale

		Corporate bonds
		 Residential mortgage-backed securities
Total fixed income securities
DECEMBER 31, 2015
Trust Fund Corpus, restricted:
Fixed income securities, available-for-sale

		 States and municipalities
		Corporate bonds
		 Residential mortgage-backed securities
Total fixed income securities
Trust Fund Operating:
Fixed income securities, available-for-sale

		 Corporate bonds
		 Residential mortgage-backed securities
Total fixed income securities
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The amortized cost and fair value of fixed income securities available-for-sale as of December 31, 2016, by contractual repayment date of principal, are shown below. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may
have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.
		

Amortized Cost

Fair Value

$ 12,577,000
44,188,000
5,542,000
4,040,000

$ 12,662,000
44,735,000
5,538,000
4,038,000

66,347,000
73,381,000

66,973,000
72,690,000

$139,728,000

$139,663,000

$   2,248,000
14,405,000
3,012,000

$   2,258,000
14,455,000
3,062,000

19,665,000
43,271,000

19,775,000
42,767,000

$ 62,936,000

$ 62,542,000

Trust Fund Corpus, restricted

Due in one year or less
Due after one year through five years
Due after five years through 10 years
Due after 10 years
		
Residential mortgage-backed securities
		
Trust Fund Operating

Due in one year or less
Due after one year through five years
Due after five years through 10 years
		
Residential mortgage-backed securities
		

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, proceeds from sales of investments were $2,108,000 and $9,721,000,
respectively.
The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value aggregated by investment category and length of time
those securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position:
Less Than 12 Months
					
					
				
Fair Value

12 Months or More

Gross		
Unrealized		
Loss
Fair Value

Total

Gross		
Unrealized		
Loss
Fair Value

Gross
Unrealized
Loss

DECEMBER 31, 2016
Trust Fund Corpus, restricted:
Fixed income securities

		 U.S. Treasury obligations
$ 2,445,000 $   (18,000)
		 States and municipalities
12,732,000
(210,000)
		Corporate bonds
23,106,000
(135,000)
		Residential mortgage-backed
			securities
44,461,000 (1,171,000)

$       —
—
497,000

$      —
—
(1,000)

3,626,000

(107,000)

$82,744,000 $(1,534,000)

$4,123,000

$(108,000)

$86,867,000 $(1,642,000)

		Corporate bonds
$ 6,803,000 $   (64,000)
		Residential mortgage-backed
			securities
31,517,000
(709,000)

$  746,000

$  (2,000)

$ 7,549,000 $   (66,000)

709,000

(33,000)

$38,320,000 $  (773,000)

$1,455,000

$ (35,000)

Total fixed income securities

$ 2,445,000 $   (18,000)
12,732,000
(210,000)
23,603,000
(136,000)
48,087,000

(1,278,000)

Trust Fund Operating:
Fixed income securities

Total fixed income securities

32,226,000

(742,000)

$39,775,000 $  (808,000)
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Less Than 12 Months
					
					
				
Fair Value

12 Months or More

Gross		
Unrealized		
Loss
Fair Value

Total

Gross		
Unrealized		
Loss
Fair Value

Gross
Unrealized
Loss

DECEMBER 31, 2015
Trust Fund Corpus, restricted:
Fixed income securities

		 Corporate bonds
$17,774,000
		Residential mortgage-backed
			securities
30,946,000

$(312,000)

$ 3,217,000

$ (26,000)

(628,000)

12,175,000

(368,000)

$48,720,000

$(940,000)

$15,392,000

$(394,000)

$64,112,000 $(1,334,000)

		 Corporate bonds
$ 7,067,000
		Residential mortgage-backed
			securities
20,895,000

$(134,000)

$   496,000

$  (3,000)

$ 7,563,000 $  (137,000)

(331,000)

8,000,000

(255,000)

$27,962,000

$(465,000)

$ 8,496,000

$(258,000)

Total fixed income securities

$20,991,000 $  (338,000)
43,121,000

(996,000)

Trust Fund Operating:
Fixed income securities

Total fixed income securities

28,895,000

(586,000)

$36,458,000 $  (723,000)

MPT reviews, at least quarterly, its investment portfolio for securities that may have an other-than-temporary impairment.
In its impairment analysis, MPT takes into consideration numerous criteria, including the duration and extent of any decline
in estimated fair value, industry factors, downgrades by rating agencies, liquidity and fundamental factors of the issuers,
as well as its ability and intent to retain its investment in the issuer to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value
or maturity. If the decline is determined to be other than temporary, the investment’s amortized cost is written down to
estimated fair value with the unrealized loss recognized in operations as a realized loss on investments.
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, none of the investments whose estimated fair values were less than amortized cost were
considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired given the severity and duration of the impairment and the credit quality of
the issuers.
MPT does not intend to sell its investments whose fair values are less than amortized costs, and it is not more likely than not
that MPT will be required to sell the investments before recovery of the amortized cost bases, which may be maturity.
Investment income, net is summarized as follows:
Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Interest income
Gross gains on sales of investments
Investment management fees and expenses
Net amortization of premium on fixed income securities

$ 6,423,000
50,000
(317,000)
(1,101,000)

$6,827,000
136,000
(312,000)
(976,000)

Investment income, net

$ 5,055,000

$5,675,000

COOPERATIVE OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS, INC. 2016 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 42

Notes to Financial Statements
MUTUAL PROTECTION TRUST

Note 4: Unpaid Claims and Expenses and Non-Assessable Former Members’ Liability
Unpaid claims and expenses for assessable members are comprised of the following:
December 31

Accrued indemnity
Accrued defense and investigative services

2016

2015

$15,279,000
3,076,000

$ 9,658,000
3,203,000

$18,355,000

$12,861,000

MPT has assumed claims liability by providing tail coverage to certain former members who are no longer liable for assessments (non-assessable former members) including those who are retired, transferred, terminated or deceased. Members
voluntarily terminating have no tail coverage from MPT unless they remain liable for assessments or pay a tail coverage fee.
Under California Insurance Code Section 1280.7, members involuntarily terminated by MPT’s peer review process are
entitled to receive tail coverage without liability for future assessments upon release of the right to a return of their Initial
Trust Contributions.
The liability for claims of non-assessable former members reflects an estimate of future payments for claims reported as of
each year-end, an estimate of the related defense and investigative expenses, an estimate for claims administration and other
adjusting expenses, and a provision for claims incurred but not reported. Since this liability is based upon estimates, and
while management believes that amounts recorded are adequate, the ultimate liability may differ from the amounts provided
in the financial statements. The methodologies for making such estimates and for establishing the resulting liabilities are
continually reviewed by management and the independent actuaries of MPT. Adjustments to the estimates are included in
operations in the period they are determined. The actuarially estimated liability for claims of non-assessable former members
is as follows:
December 31

Claims reported:
Members retired
Members voluntarily terminated, transferred
		and deceased
Members involuntarily terminated
Claims incurred but not reported
Claims administration and other adjusting expenses
			

2016

2015

$ 4,344,000

$ 7,003,000

10,565,000
12,272,000
6,104,000
1,757,000

7,712,000
11,142,000
6,134,000
1,661,000

$35,042,000

$33,652,000

The following summarizes the years in which the actuarially estimated liability for claims reported and claims incurred but
not reported for non-assessable former members are estimated to be paid:
Years Ending
December 31

2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022 and after

Amount

$10,642,000
7,975,000
5,750,000
4,126,000
3,269,000
3,280,000
$35,042,000

Cash and investments in MPT’s Trust Fund Operations accounts have been retained sufficient to fund the total estimated
future liability for claims against non-assessable former members of $35,042,000 at December 31, 2016. Such funds may be
used for other purposes only upon approval of the Trustees, and it is the Board’s intention to replenish any such funds through
the regular assessment process.
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Note 5: Contingencies
MPT is liable for unpaid claims and expenses only as required by California Insurance Code Section 1280.7 and the MPT
Agreement. Any future liability beyond the amount reported in the financial statements for unpaid claims and expenses of
the MPT members will become the liability of MPT only to the extent that final settlements or judgments exist against MPT
members who are current in all payments due to MPT, or when an MPT member becomes a former member and qualifies for
non-assessable former member status.
MPT’s independent actuaries have estimated the aggregate liability of the assessable members for all actual claims and
expenses, which are not the current liability of MPT, to be $134,140,000 (net of reinsurance of $9,899,000 as discussed
below) and $129,733,000 (net of reinsurance of $11,522,000 as discussed below) as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. This liability is MPT’s estimate of future payments for all claims reported as of each year-end and the related defense
and investigative expenses. Additional occurrences may become reported claims in subsequent periods. Actuarial studies
have estimated that this liability for unpaid claims and expenses will require funding through future assessments, which are
affected by the amount of investment earnings, over a period of up to 17 years. In the highly unlikely event this contingent
liability becomes due in its entirety within the next 12 months, management believes there will be sufficient available liquidity within its Trust Fund Operations’ cash and cash equivalents, fixed income securities, reinsurance recoveries, and available
lines of credit to fully fund this contingent liability prior to making any unanticipated assessment of the membership.
MPT has entered into reinsurance contracts with major global reinsurance companies and its affiliate, Cooperative of American
Physicians Insurance Company, Inc. (CAPIC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP), which provides coverage on a claims-made
basis for case losses in excess of a $1,000,000 retention for which MPT is obligated. Coverage also has been purchased that
applies to multiple cases arising from the same occurrence. MPT is contingently liable with respect to ceded reinsurance, if
any, should any reinsurer be unable to meet its obligations under those agreements. MPT also has reinsurance contracts with
major London-based reinsurance companies and CAPIC, which provides coverage on a claims-made basis for multiple claims
arising out of one common, systemic event. Under these systemic event reinsurance contracts, limits of $7,000,000 are available to MPT on a claims-made basis over a $3,000,000 retention.
Three MPT trustees, together with CAP and certain members of CAP’s board of directors (who are sued in their individual
capacities), are co-defendants in a lawsuit filed in June 2016. The lawsuit was filed by two former members of CAP and two
active members of CAP. MPT is indemnifying the defendant trustees pursuant to an undertaking that such indemnification
arises out of the defendants’ performance of duties within the course and scope of their positions. The primary allegation
by the four plaintiffs is wrongful termination of the former members from CAP and as participating members in MPT. In
the litigation, plaintiffs seek reimbursement of their legal expenses. Some plaintiffs also seek unspecified compensatory and
exemplary damages, reinstatement of the former members to their status as active members of CAP, as participating members
in MPT, and as trustees of MPT, and injunctive and declaratory relief. MPT believes the terminations of CAP memberships
were valid and carried out in accordance with CAP’s bylaws. The defendants have incurred defense costs in conjunction with
this litigation and expect that additional legal costs will be incurred in 2017. Included in other operating costs for the year
ended December 31, 2016 is $933,000 in total estimated legal costs associated with the lawsuit. MPT’s policy with regard to
legal costs associated with loss contingencies is to accrue an estimate of total estimated legal costs to be incurred in connection
with the lawsuit to resolution. As of December 31, 2016, estimated remaining legal costs of $415,000 are included in other
liabilities.
MPT is subject to other legal proceedings arising from the normal conduct of its business. In the opinion of management, any
ultimate liability that may arise from these proceedings will not have a material effect on MPT’s financial position.
Note 6: Related Party Transactions
Effective January 1, 2010, MPT and CAP entered into an administrative and management services agreement whereby CAP
provides membership, claims, risk management, financial, legal and other administrative and management services to MPT.
Under the agreement, CAP receives monthly fees from MPT for these services that are based on actual expenses incurred
by CAP plus a margin. The margin applies to all services, except legal, whose services are provided to MPT at cost. Fees of
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Note 6: Related Party Transactions (continued)
$26,045,000 and $25,397,000 were incurred by MPT for administrative and management services under the agreement for
the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Effective January 1, 2013, MPT and CAPIC entered into a services agreement whereby CAPIC provides legal defense services
to MPT physicians. MPT pays CAPIC monthly fees for these services that are based on actual costs incurred. Fees incurred
under this agreement were $16,678,000 and $17,010,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Included in the payable to affiliated entity is $1,664,000 and $1,784,000 payable to CAPIC for these services as of December
31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
In 2016 and 2015, MPT had reinsurance contracts with CAPIC. These contracts principally provide per claim excess of loss
reinsurance coverage on a claims-made form for MPT for claims reported in 2016 and 2015. These agreements can be terminated and commuted at the end of any calendar quarter prospectively by mutual agreement of MPT and CAPIC. Premiums
paid by MPT under these agreements were $2,600,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. MPT also maintains
reinsurance coverage on a claims-made basis for multiple claims arising out of one common event. CAPIC participates in this
contract along with other non-affiliated reinsurance companies. Premiums paid by MPT to CAPIC under this contract were
$202,000 and $228,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. For the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015, total affiliate reinsurance premium expense under all reinsurance contracts with CAPIC was $2,803,000 and
$2,805,000, respectively, and is included in Claims: Other Operating Costs.
CAP provides its members and participants defense coverage for medical board actions with a $25,000 limit and employer
practice defense coverage with a $50,000 limit. CAPIC provides insurance coverage to CAP for these benefits. MPT reimburses CAP for a significant portion of the cost of this coverage. CAP paid CAPIC $2,460,000 and $2,579,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, for this coverage, of which MPT reimbursed CAP $2,396,000 and
$2,500,000 for the same respective years.
Note 7: Employee Benefits
MPT sponsors a 401(k) savings plan for its employees. Employees’ contributions are matched by MPT at a level that is
determined by the Board of Trustees. The contribution expense for the 401(k) savings plan was $15,000 and $21,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Eligible employees vest in MPT’s contribution over a four-year
vesting schedule. MPT also sponsors a supplemental employee retirement program (SERP) for certain employees.
Participants vest, on average, over a 10-year period. SERP liabilities, which are included in other liabilities, totaled
$5,566,000 and $5,642,000 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The (benefit) expense related to this program was
($57,000) and $331,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. MPT maintains a non-qualified
deferred compensation program (NDCP) for eligible employees and Board members. Under the plan, participants can defer
compensation or Board fees based on an annual election. Amounts deferred are credited with notional investment earnings on
a tax deferred basis until such amounts are distributed to participants. Liabilities of the NDCP, which are included in other
liabilities, totaled $10,294,000 and $10,049,000 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
MPT funds its SERP and NDCP obligations principally through life insurance policies on the participants and eligible
participants. Mutual fund investments are also used to fund these obligations. The life insurance policy assets supporting
these benefit plan obligations are carried at their cash surrender value, which approximates fair value, and are included in
other assets, totaling $14,199,000 and $13,377,000 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The mutual fund assets
are carried at fair value, totaling $4,091,000 and $3,821,000 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
MPT maintains a post-retirement medical benefit plan for certain employees. Beginning at the age of 62, participants can
use amounts contributed to a separate post-retirement account held on their behalf (by a third-party trust) to fund eligible
medical expenses. Amounts paid to the trust by MPT are not refundable and become the property of the trustee on behalf of
participants. The trust invests funds received from MPT in universal life insurance policies covering participants, which
includes a death benefit funded by MPT until the participant reaches the vesting age of 62. While the plan establishes
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Note 7: Employee Benefit (continued)
targeted post-retirement benefit levels for participants, there is no obligation for MPT to fully fund these levels and the
employees are only eligible to receive the benefits accumulated in their account. MPT contributed $21,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
Note 8: Income Taxes
The components of the income tax expense are as follows:
Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Current
Deferred

$   (15,000)
(1,490,000)

$     4,000
(2,526,000)

Total

$(1,505,000)

$(2,522,000)

A reconciliation of income tax benefit computed at the federal statutory tax rate to total income tax expense is summarized
as follows:
Years Ended December 31
2016
2015

Federal income tax benefit at 35%
Adjustments in taxes resulting from:
State income tax benefit (net of federal expense)
Change in valuation allowance
Return-to-provision adjustments
Employee benefit plans
Other

$ 1,431,000

$   435,000

344,000
(3,286,000)
50,000
(39,000)
(5,000)

99,000
(2,776,000)
(9,000)
(264,000)
(7,000)

Total income tax expense

$(1,505,000)

$(2,522,000)
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Note 8: Income Taxes (continued)
The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31
2016

2015

$     23,000

$   (386,000)

$ 46,759,000

$ 46,417,000

1,841,000
16,566,000
7,346,000
1,540,000
129,000
98,000

1,743,000
13,280,000
7,930,000
1,334,000
129,000
119,000

138,000

35,000

74,417,000
(16,566,000)

70,987,000
(13,280,000)

57,851,000

57,707,000

(43,717,000)
(1,563,000)
126,000

(41,981,000)
(1,503,000)
(139,000)

(45,154,000)

(43,623,000)

$ 12,697,000

$ 14,084,000

Trust Fund Corpus, restricted:

Deferred tax asset (liability) attributable to net
unrealized investment gains
Trust Fund Operating:

Deferred tax assets attributable to:
Initial trust contributions
Discounting of non-assessable former members’
		 claim and other liability
Net operating loss carryforward
Employee benefit obligations
Lease incentive obligations
California EZ credit
Capital loss carryover
Deferred tax asset attributable to net unrealized
		investment losses
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets after valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities attributable to:
Discounting of assessable members’ contingent
		claim liability
Accretion of bond discount
Other
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax asset, net

ASC 740, Income Taxes, requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Realization of the deferred income tax asset is dependent on
MPT generating sufficient taxable excess of assessments and revenues over expenses in future years as the deferred income
tax charges become currently deductible for tax reporting purposes. MPT evaluates the need for a valuation allowance taking
into consideration all available evidence, both positive and negative, including future sources of income, tax planning strategies, future contractual cash flows and reversing temporary differences.
As of December 31, 2016, there remains federal net operating loss carryforwards totaling $39,857,000 which will expire
beginning 2026, to be applied to future tax years. The net operating loss carryforward resulted primarily from a change in
accounting method for incurred losses that was permitted by the Internal Revenue Service in 2008 for 2006 and subsequent
tax years. As of December 31, 2016, there remains a state net operating loss carryforward totaling $29,594,000, which will
expire beginning 2028 to be applied to future tax years.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is more likely than not that future taxable income will be
available, and a valuation allowance is established where deferred tax assets cannot be recognized. Based on an analysis
of MPT’s tax position, management believes that it is more likely than not that the benefit from certain federal and state
net operating loss carryforwards will not be realized. As a result, MPT held a valuation allowance of $16,566,000 and
$13,280,000 on the deferred tax assets relating to federal and state net operating loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2016
and 2015, respectively. The valuation allowance increased by $3,286,000 and $2,776,000 in 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Note 8: Income Taxes (continued)
Income taxes refunded for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $3,000. Income taxes paid for the year ended December
31, 2015 were $328,000. There was no tax penalties recognized for the year ended December 31, 2016 or 2015.
Tax years 2013 through 2015 and tax years 2012 through 2015 are subject to examination by the federal and California taxing authorities, respectively. There are no income tax examinations currently in progress.
MPT’s income tax returns are subject to audit by the Internal Revenue Service and state tax authorities. Significant disputes
may arise with these tax authorities involving issues of the timing and amount of deductions and allocations of income
among various tax jurisdictions because of differing interpretations of tax laws and regulations. MPT periodically evaluates
its exposures associated with tax filing positions.
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, MPT had no uncertain tax positions.
Note 9: Commitments
MPT and CAP occupy their home office and regional office facilities under operating leases which provide for adjustments
to the lease payments based upon contractual commitments and inflationary factors. Both companies are lessees under these
operating leases. Rent expense is apportioned between MPT and CAP based primarily on the number of employees. The
total rent expense under these leases was $3,148,000 and $3,102,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. In November 2015, MPT and CAP extended the lease covering their Orange, California facility for an additional ten and a half years to a new expiration date of April 30, 2026. The future minimum rental commitments under these
operating leases are as follows:
Years Ending
December 31

2017
2018
2019
2020
2021 and after

Amount

$ 2,127,000
2,198,000
2,164,000
2,190,000
8,184,000
$16,863,000

MPT maintains a line of credit in the amount of $20,000,000, which bears interest at the bank prime rate or a borrowing
rate based upon the London Interbank Offered Rates plus a margin for any portion outstanding. There was $5,000,000
outstanding under the line of credit as of December 31, 2016. Interest expense on the line of credit was $88,000 and
$38,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The $5,000,000 was paid on January 30, 2017,
which was also the due date for payment. MPT’s fixed income securities are pledged as collateral for amounts outstanding
under the line of credit. The line of credit includes a sub-feature for letters of credit which may be used to collateralize appeal
bonds obtained by MPT. There were no letters of credit outstanding under this sub-feature at December 31, 2016 or 2015.
MPT obtains surety bonds for use as collateral for judgments on appeal. MPT indemnifies the surety company for any
recoveries made against the appeal bond. Fees are paid based upon the amount and duration of the appeal bond. No
amounts were outstanding on appeal bonds at December 31, 2016 or 2015.
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As of and For the Years Ended December 31
2016

			

2015

2014

2013

2012

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(In millions)

Total Assessments, Dues and Revenues

$141.1

$127.8

$130.4

$135.3

$127.1

Expenses
Indemnity Expense
Defense and Investigative
Other

$ 61.3
36.3
47.6

$ 46.2
36.7
46.1

$ 42.3
35.2
53.5

$ 48.1
35.1
51.8

$ 51.0
31.9
46.5

Total Expenses

$145.2

$129.0

$131.0

$135.0

$129.4

(Deficit) Excess of Assessments, Dues and
Revenues Over Expenses, net of income taxes

$  (5.6)

$  (3.8)

$  4.6

$  0.3

$  (2.0)

FINANCIAL POSITION

Cash and Invested Assets

$212.9

$219.3

$223.0

$218.3

$226.5

Total Assets

$344.5

$344.5

$353.6

$350.7

$346.7

Members’ Equity

$153.9

$159.5

$165.6

$160.3

$163.0

MEMBERSHIP AND CLAIMS (Unaudited)

Active Members at Year End
Services for Reported Claims
Cases Opened
Cases Closed
Cases Under Management
Per Active Member (In thousands)
Total Assessments, Dues and Revenues
Indemnity Expense
Defense and Investigative
Other Expenses
Total Expenses

11,809

11,743

11,688

11,789

11,726

1,047
1,079
1,399

1,052
1,143
1,431

1,142
1,113
1,522

1,234
1,170
1,493

1,198
1,190
1,429

$ 11.9

$ 10.9

$ 11.2

$ 11.5

$ 10.8

5.2
3.1
4.0

4.0
3.1
3.8

3.6
3.0
4.6

4.1
3.0
4.4

4.3
2.7
4.0

$ 12.3

$ 10.9

$ 11.2

$ 11.5

$ 11.0

Cooperative of American Physicians, Inc. is licensed as a property and casualty broker-agent and surplus line broker (California license
No. 0B72723). Insurance purchased by CAPAssurance, a Risk Purchasing Group, is from a “non-admitted” or “surplus line” insurer that
is not licensed by the state of California.
CAP Physicians Insurance Agency, Inc. is authorized under California license No. 0F97719.

333 S. H OPE S T ., 8 TH F LOOR , L OS A NGELES , CA 90071
SAN DIEGO

ORANGE

I 800-252-7706 I www.CAPphysicians.com
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